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Hickory Sticks is a one-and-a-half-story log and frame house 
which faces west from a wooded three-and-a-half-acre site two hun­ 
dred feet above the old Hamilton (Columbus-Aberdeen) Road in Columbus, 
Mississippi. Supported by a foundation of brick piers, the raised- 
cottage-type house has a gable roof and a full front gallery with 
six wooden columns spanned by a simple wooden railing.

The Greek Revival appearance of the house is the result of 
mid-nineteenth century additions to a double-pen log structure which 
probably dates from the earliest period of settlement in Columbus, 
ca. 1817-1830. According to Columbus historian Dr. William L. Lipscomb, 
"up to 1830 more than one-half of all the houses built in Columbus were 
made of logs," the typical log house being "either single or double, 
one and a half stories high . . . with piazza running the length of the 
whole house in front" (Lipscomb, pp. 48-49). When it stood alone, the 
original log portion of Hickory Sticks faced south and probably fit 
Lipscomb 1 s description exactly. As the house is presently arranged, 
the surviving pen of the log structure frames the two rooms, one above 
the other, at the northwest corner. The hand-hewn, crudely notched 
logs are of varying woods, apparently selected for their size.

Robert Haden evidently enlarged and remodeled the log house soon 
after he purchased it in 1846 (Deed book 22:272). A three-room floor 
plan with stair hall was achieved by the addition of a large, high- 
ceilinged parlor to correspond with the log-framed rooms across a 
center hall probably created from the space formerly occupied by the 
"piazza" of the log house. The ceiling of the west pen of the log 
structure was raised with timber framing to allow for a finished 
second-story room, the front gallery was added under a new roof, 
six-over-six sash windows were installed above paneled jib windows 
opening onto the gallery from the new parlor, interior walls were 
plastered, and the exterior was sheathed with clapboards. Three 
simple wooden Greek Revival mantels which survive in place, other 
six-over-six and six-over-nine sash windows, the window and door 
architraves, the four-panel interior doors, and a simple but graceful 
wooden stair rail also appear to have been installed in the 1840s. 
The terracing of the steeply sloping grounds, with brick steps which 
still lead from the street level up to the front door, was probably 
accomplished by Haden at the same time.

In 1949, Mr. and Mrs. Robert Ivy, the present owners of Hickory 
Sticks, installed a central heating and air conditioning system and 
added a rear wing containing a kitchen, a dining room, a sitting room, 
bathrooms, and another second-floor bedroom. The back (east) pen of 
the original log structure, by that time severely deteriorated, was 
removed to allow more space for the addition, while the remaining old 
portion of the house was carefully renovated. Architect Tom Jones of 
Starkville, Mississippi, supervised the work; and Mr. Ralph Hudson, an
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The history of Columbus, Mississippi's settlement, growth, and 
development are reflected in the house and grounds of Hickory Sticks. 
Certain features of the grounds suggest that there may have been some 
prehistoric settlement there (see Physical Description); the nineteenth 
century house represents, in its two phases of construction, two important 
periods of Columbus history; and the builders of the house, as well as 
subsequent owners, occupied prominent positions in the growing Tombigbee 
River community. As the subject of twentieth century preservation and 
renovation, open to the public annually during the Columbus Pilgrimage, 
Hickory Sticks is also an important living component of contemporary 
Columbus.

The original log portion of Hickory Sticks was probably already 
standing when Dr. Andrew Weir, who had come to Columbus with his brother 
Adolphus, officially obtained 160 acres of land, including the house site, 
by patents from the United States government in 1834 and 1835 (Deed book 
219:480-81). Writing in the late nineteenth century, Dr. William L. 
Lipscomb recalled that, prior to 1830, "log houses occupied most of the 
fine building sites in Columbus (Lipscomb, p. 49), and it seems safe to 
assume that similar structures also occupied the most desirable building 
sites in the immediate vicinity. The elevated ground on which the early 
log portion of Hickory Sticks was constructed, fronting on the major 
thoroughfare between Columbus and Aberdeen, was surely such a site. 
It is possible that Weir himself had settled on the property and con­ 
structed the log house before obtaining official title to the land, 
but in any case he was the first recorded owner of the land surround­ 
ing and including Hickory Sticks.

A native of Virginia, Dr. Weir became a prominent citizen of 
early Columbus and founding president of the Commercial Bank, the 
second bank to be established in the town (Lipscomb, p. 152). He 
continued to hold the entire 160-acre tract of land just north of 
Columbus until 1842, when he initiated a series of transactions which 
culminated in 1846 with the purchase of a reduced segment, containing 
approximately thirty-three acres, by Robert D. Haden (Deed book 22:272). 
Haden was,one of the first settlers in Lowndes County, having.come there 
about 1819 from Tuscaloosa, Alabama. He served as a member of the com­ 
mission that surveyed the town of Columbus in 1821, represented Monroe 
County in the state legislature in 1826, served as the first clerk of 
Lowndes County when the county was established in 1830, and figured
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7 - DESCRIPTION

authority on the historic architecture of north Mississippi and at that 
time chairman of the art department at Mississippi State College for 
Women (now Mississippi University for Women), served as consultant.

The terraced grounds of Hickory Sticks contain many varieties of 
trees and a number of rare plants which have survived from the nineteenth 
century, among them a Chinese tea plant, giant magnolias, and the 
parent yaupon bush of the region. Dr. John M. Kaye of Mississippi 
State University has suggested that a large spring on the property 
may have been the center of an Indian camp site. The spring is sur­ 
rounded by shells, and projectile points have been found on the 
grounds.

8 - SIGNIFICANCE

prominently in numerous civic organizations and activities (Goodspeed, 
1:230; Lipscomb, p. 30). Available evidence strongly suggests that 
it was Haden who enlarged and remodeled Hickory Sticks, and the work 
was probably begun as soon as he purchased the property in 1846.

In 1866, when Haden conveyed the Hickory Sticks tract to J. A. 
Orr, a locally prominent judge (Deed book 34:411), the parcel was 
described as "33 acres of land embracing the dwelling and other im­ 
provements where the said Robert D. now resides." This is the first 
mention of the house in deed records, and it lends support to the 
stylistic and material indications that Haden was responsible for 
the remodeling that resulted in the Greek Revival appearance of 
Hickory Sticks as it stands today (see Physical Description). The 
1840s and 1850s were prosperous decades in Columbus, and many of the 
finest architectural specimens in the town date from that era. In 
spite of some daringly applied Gothic Revival and Italianate decora­ 
tion on several Columbus houses, and an occasional complete commitment 
to one of those more modern styles, for the most part the Greek Revival 
remained the dominant mode, particularly for domestic structures, until 
after the Civil War. At Hickory Sticks Robert Haden was refined and 
restrained in his use of the Greek Revival style; only the simplest 
motifs were employed, and no extraneous decoration was applied. For 
its time, the "new" Hickory Sticks was as simple and representative 
as the original log structure had been, and it remains today as a well-
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8 - SIGNIFICANCE

preserved example of the modest but finely-executed interpretations of 
the Greek Revival that once were prevalent in Columbus.

The most famous owner of Hickory Sticks was General Stephen Dill 
Lee (1833-1908), who purchased the thirty-three acres, with "dwelling 
house and other improvements, vineyard, etc.," in 1879 (Deed book 55:485), 
A South Carolina native distinguished as a lieutenant-general in the 
Confederate Army, Lee settled in Columbus when he married Regina Harrison 
there in 1865. He was elected to the state senate in 1878, chosen a 
delegate to the state constitutional convention in 1890, and served as 
the first president of Mississippi Agricultural and Mechanical College 
from 1880 until 1899, when he resigned to accept an appointment as a 
member of the commission to organize the Vicksburg National Military 
Park. At the time of his death in 1908, S. D. Lee was commander-in-chief 
of the United Confederate Veterans (Malone, 11:130-31).

The Hickory Sticks property was inherited by General Lee's only 
son, Blewitt Lee, who lived in Chicago and evidently did not plan to 
return to Columbus (Minute book 11:335). He soon deeded eleven acres 
of the land to the city of Columbus to be used forever as a public 
park, now called Lee Park (Deed book 92:430). The Hickory Sticks 
house site and remaining twenty-two acres of surrounding land were 
sold separately, however, and the house continued to be occupied as 
a private residence (Deed book 100:563). During the ensuing decades 
the private acreage was further subdivided until 1949, when the three- 
and-a-half-acre parcel containing the Hickory Sticks house was purchased 
and sensitively renovated by the present owners, Mr. and Mrs. Robert A. 
Ivy (Deed books 210:293; 219:89-90). While renovating the house, 
Mr. and Mrs. Ivy discovered the log section that had been hidden under 
plaster for over a hundred years. They were careful to retain all that 
could be salvaged of the original structure (see Physical Description), 
and, to allow future interpretation of the development of the house, 
they left exposed the log and frame construction of a second floor 
room.

The traditionally wooded and sparsely developed character of 
the north Columbus area surrounding Hickory Sticks is partially pro­ 
tected by Lee Park to the south; but the other three directions are 
more vulnerable, and the neighborhood has been gradually encroached 
upon in recent years with increased large-scale commercial development 
along nearby Highway 45 to the west, and a housing development to the 
east, along the edge of Lee Park.
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